

Government of Nepal Ministry of Health and Population

NEPAL HEALTH SECTOR SIMULATION EXERCISE

19th - 23rd September 2022



The diverse geo-climatic system of Nepal with heavy monsoons, flood prone areas and earthquake renders the country vulnerable to natural disasters. In addition to the natural disasters, there are other risk areas including infectious/communicable diseases, rise of emerging and remerging diseases, and man-made hazards. During disaster or any public health emergencies, the Ministry of Health and Population (MoHP) coordinates with all relevant stakeholders including the National Emergency Operation Center (NEOC), Health Emergency Operation Centers (HEOCs), hub & satellite hospital network, and health & non-health partners for well-organized response. However, from the past experiences, few gaps were identified in terms of coordination between health and non-health stakeholders, information flow between concerned stakeholders, response at hospitals, and coordination between ambulance and dispatch center. Hence, a full-scale simulation exercise was envisioned by MoHP to test the existing coordination mechanisms, identify and capacitate in-country experts on simulation exercise, identify gaps and strengthen coordination between all relevant stakeholders.

The Ministry of Health and Population along with the technical support of WHO SEARO, WHO Country Office Nepal and Respond Global Health Emergency Experts from Australia conducted Nepal Health Sector Simulation Exercise with the goal to strengthen coordination mechanism between central and provincial government entities within and beyond health sector. Also, the Simulation Exercise is one of the core components of the International Health Regulations (IHR) Monitoring and Evaluation Framework which is mandatory for WHO member country. I am optimistic that the recommendations identified through this simulation exercise will be adopted to further capacitate the health care service providers, reinforce the communication pathways between all concerned stakeholders, and better prepare for efficient and effective response during any disasters and public health emergencies.

Lastly, I would like to offer my deepest gratitude to all the members of the HEOC network, WHO SEARO, Respond Global Health Emergency Experts from Australia, and WHO Nepal for extending their generous and continued support. My special thank goes to Dr Allison Gocotano, Dr Subash Neupane, Dr Gaurav Devkota, Dr Bigyan Prajapati, Dr Irana Joshi, Mr Prahlad Dahal, Mr Prakash Chandra Ghimire, Mr Ramdaresh Pandit, Mr Sanjib Gautam, Mr Manish Dhungana, Mr Tribhuwan Bhatta, Ms Deepa Chand, Ms Barsha Thapa, and Mr Ganesh Singh Dhami who were instrumental in successful conduction of the simulation exercise.

Dr Samir Kumar Adhikari Chief, Health Emergency Operation Center



UN HOUSE, PULCHOWK, LALITPUR, PO BOX: 108, KATHMANDU, NEPAL, TEL: +977-1-5523200 FAX: +977-1-5527756 E-MAIL: senepwr@who.int

FOREWORD

Nepal is among the most disaster-prone countries in the world due to its topography, seismic terrain, and seasonal monsoon weather patterns, with high-risk areas for floods and landslides. Nepal ranked 20th in the overall disaster risk, 4th in risk due to climate change, 11th in earthquake vulnerability, and 30th in terms of floods¹. It is imperative to have efficient coordination among all health actors across all tiers of government and other sectors to effectively deliver the health response during disasters and public health emergencies. This coordination is primarily done through the Ministry of Health and Population's (MoHP) Health Emergency Operation Center (HEOC) and Provincial Health Emergency Operation Centers (PHEOCs) in Nepal.

To support countries in managing health events that may cross borders, the International Health Regulations (2005) (IHR) provides a broad framework that legally binds the World Health Organization (WHO) Member States, which includes Nepal. The IHR Monitoring and Evaluation Framework (IHR MEF) lays out approaches to review the implementation of public health capacities at country level which are necessary to fulfill the obligations as stated in the IHR. It consists of four components: State Party Self-Assessment Annual Report, After-Action Review (including COVID-19 Intra-Action Review), Joint External Evaluation, and Simulation Exercises. Nepal successfully completed all four components of the IHR MEF in 2022, and I would like to take this opportunity to congratulate Nepal.

One component of the IHR MEF is a Simulation Exercise, which simulates an emergency situation to which a described or simulated response is made. Its purpose is to validate and enhance preparedness and response plans, capacities, procedures, and systems for disaster or public health emergency response, be it for a specific hazard or following an all-hazard approach. Commonly abbreviated as SimEx, these are useful to achieve different objectives. These may include, but not limited to, reviewing and assessing planning assumptions, procedures, operational plans, guidelines, and standard operating procedures; assessing and testing interoperability between these plans and procedures; revealing planning weaknesses and resource gaps; improving coordination and collaboration; clarifying roles and responsibilities; practicing and clarifying chain of command; developing knowledge and skills for emergency response operations; familiarizing staff with new functions and equipment; and gaining recognition and trust in the emergency management processes.

The Nepal Health Sector Simulation Exercise was conducted by the MoHP on 21-23 September 2022 with technical support from WHO and exercise facilitation support from Respond Global. The three-day SimEx, which was preceded by months of preparation, focused on testing the coordination aspect of health response during a large-scale disaster. This included MoHP, HEOCs, various divisions of the Department of Health Services, Hub and Satellite hospitals, and other relevant stakeholders. The SimEx also helped to analyze the communication and information management within the health sector, and formulated recommendations for further improvement.

WHO congratulates the MoHP for its leadership in prioritizing this important work for strengthening Nepal's capacity for health emergency management, and remains committed to further improving health sector's preparedness and response to disasters and public health emergencies.

Dr Allison Gocotano Team Leader – WHO Health Emergencies Programme WHO, Country Office for Nepal

¹Maplecroft 2011, BCPR 2004 cited in MoHA 2015; Nepal Disaster Report 2017-A Road to Sendai

Executive Summary

The Ministry of Health and Population, Government of Nepal (MoHP) completed a three-day face-to-face functional simulation exercise (SimEx) on the 21–23 September, 2022, to strengthen coordination for response activities led by the Health Emergency Operations Centre (HEOC) at central and provincial levels among government bodies or teams within and beyond the health sector (e.g. National, District and local EOCs).

The SimEx was led by the Ministry of Health and Population, with support of Emergency Preparedness and Operations members of WHO Health Emergencies Programme, WHO Nepal, technical officers of WHE SEARO and Respond Global Health Emergency experts.

The simulation included participants from;

- Ministry of Health and Population
- National Emergency Operation Centre
- Health Emergency Operation Centre
- Department of Health Services
- Provincial Health Emergency Operation Centre (PHEOC), Bagmati Province
- National Public Health Laboratory
- Epidemiology and Disease Control Division
- Ambulance Dispatch Centre
- Bir Hospital
- Patan Hospital
- Civil Hospital
- Dhulikhel Hospital
- Sukraraj Tropical and Infectious Disease Hospital
- Tribhuwan University Teaching Hospital
- Paropakar Maternity and Women's Hospital

Additional contributors included the Nepal Army, Nepal Police and Armed Police Force, Nepal.

Participant numbers:

- Day 1, the SimEx included 100+ participants,
- Day 2, 75+ participants and
- Day 3, 400+ persons participated in both a functional and drill exercise.
- Exercise Control team of 10, led by Respond Global, supported by WCO Nepal and WHO SEARO and MoHP.
- Provision of training to 13 local facilitators placed with each participant group.
- Over 15 observers from the WHO WCO supported the facilitators.

The key objectives of the simulation:

- To strengthen coordination for response activities led by the Health Emergency Operations Centres (HEOCs) at central and provincial levels among government bodies or teams within and beyond the health sector (e.g. National, District and local EOCs)
- To strengthen coordination among the hub and satellite hospitals
- To strengthen the interaction between clinical and public health response agencies, particularly the National Public Health Laboratory and the EDCD
- To strengthen coordination for the deployment of emergency medical deployment teams (EMDTs)
- To strengthen coordination for the deployment of Rapid Response Teams (RRT)
- To strengthen coordination for ambulance dispatch
- To train and mentor facilitators for future Sub-National level simulations and exercises



Key Lessons Identified

- MoHP and its partners have built extensive capacity to absorb lessons from the 2015 Earthquake and the COVID-19 response.
- Existing relationships and cooperation within the Health Sector, including those further strengthened during the simulation exercise, will assist in responding to future crises.
- The simulation exercise demonstrated that some areas within the Health System would benefit from additional strengthening, including:
 - Additional dedicated training in Mass Casualty Incident Management, including triage, coordination of resources and distribution.
 - A better definition of communication pathways with the Provincial structures and the rest of MoHP, mainly to avoid duplication of channels for the Hub and Satellite Hospital Network
 - Greater use of information management tools, such as forms and templates, particularly electronic ones
 - The HEOC would benefit from developing virtual EOC tools to enhance its function and strengthen coordination.
 - Formalised electronic coordination tools, forms and templates.
 - Electronic resource and tasking allocation
 - Use of written Standard Operating Procedures for specific processes
- Simulation exercises can significantly benefit facilities and entities within MoHP and should be practised regularly, led where possible by the facilitators trained and mentored during this exercise.

CONTENTS

Executive summary	1
1. Introduction	4
2. Methodology	5
2.1 Preparation	5
2.2 Set up and staging	7
Coordination team	7
Scenario and inject development and delivery	8
2.3 Execution	13
2.4 Debrief	15
2.5 Evaluation	15
3. Feedback and Recommendations	16
3.1 Observations from the simulation	16
3.2 Observations on simulation process/facilitation	18
4. Recommendations	19
5. Conclusions and next steps	21
6. Photo Gallery	22
7. Attachments	33
8. Photo Credits	33

1. Introduction

The Ministry of Health and Population, Government of Nepal completed a three-day Simulation Exercise (SimEx) for participants from the MoHP - Incident Command System, Health Emergency Operations Centre, National Public Health Laboratory, Epidemiology and Disease Control Division, Ambulance dispatch, PHEOC, Bagmati Province and seven hospitals in the Kathmandu Valley and Dhulikhel. The Simulation exercise took place on the 21st – 23rd of September 2022, with technical assistance from WHO SEARO and support from WHO Nepal and Respond Global Health Emergency Experts from Australia.

Respond Global was commissioned to assist in the technical delivery of the SimEx involving extensive simulation preparation and an online training platform, as well as a preparation visit and in-country support during the simulation. A comprehensive report was provided to both the Ministry of Health and Population and WHO Country Office Nepal to support future planning and development.

Nepal is among the top 20 disaster-prone countries due to its topography, seismic terrain, seasonal monsoon and several flood-prone and high-fire-risk areas. Therefore, coordination is critical to managing disaster events, and the SimEx presented the opportunity to review current coordination plans. Notably, an analysis of communication during a large-scale disaster between the Ministry of Health and Population (MoHP), Health Emergency Operation Centre including Provincial Health Emergency Operations Centres (HEOC/PHEOC), various divisions of Department of Health Services, hub and satellite hospitals and other stakeholders.

While the country effectively responded to multiple emergencies within the context of COVID-19 and has run frequent simulation exercises, the MoHP plans to strengthen further its coordination mechanisms, particularly coordination of HEOC with PHEOCs, different divisions of Department of Health Services (DoHS), and hub and satellite hospital networks.

WHO has been promoting strengthening HEOCs within the National and Sub-national levels of its member states. This SimEx formed a component of that work, providing an avenue for selected countries to test, learn and strengthen current readiness and response systems.

The simulation objectives included the following;

- To strengthen coordination for response activities led by the Health Emergency Operations Centres (HEOCs) at central and provincial levels among government bodies or teams within and beyond the health sector (e.g. National, District and local EOCs)
- To strengthen coordination among the hub and satellite hospitals
- To strengthen the interaction between clinical and public health response agencies, particularly the National Public Health Laboratory and the EDCD
- To strengthen coordination for the deployment of emergency medical deployment teams (EMDTs)
- To strengthen coordination for the deployment of Rapid Response Teams (RRT)
- To strengthen coordination for ambulance dispatch
- To train and mentor facilitators for future Sub-National level simulations and exercises

The delivery of this simulation was led by HEOC, MoHP and supported by WHO and by health emergency operations experts from Respond Global and the WHO Regional Office in SEARO. The SimEx took place in person in Kathmandu over three days. The preparation for the simulation took place two months before the simulation dates, including a scoping mission in August.

Nominated participants were critical players in the MoHP, other relevant divisions of the MoHP and DoHS, PHEOC, the Bagmati Province, Ambulance dispatch, five hubs, and two satellite hospitals.

A detailed list of participants can be found in Attachment 1. The simulation exercise took place on the 21st – 23rd September 2022 (Attachment 2 – Exercise Agenda).

2. Methodology

2.1 Preparation

The MoHP, WHO and Respond Global led the preparation process to develop a practical, relevant, and realistic SimEx.

The project team took the following steps;

- Appointment of a project lead (MoHP, WHO and RG).
- Establishment of a core working group including MoHP, WHO and RG.
- Preparation of a concept note.
- Preparatory mission to meet and engage MoHP stakeholders and engage on objectives.
- Weekly meetings (WHO, RG).
- Regular meetings between MoHP officials, WHO and RG to evaluate design and realism.
- Specialty Education package for facilitators on SimEx design.
- Facilitators briefing and dry run.



Milestone 1. Preparation of Concept Note

The concept note was shared with the country office for participant nominations and was used to inform the detailed planning process for the SimEx. The concept outlined the general idea for the simulation, the proposed participants, and the concept of operations for the SimEx implementation (Attachment 3).



Following the approval of the concept note, WHO SEARO facilitated a face-to-face preparatory meeting in Kathmandu, Nepal, with primary stakeholders. This included officials from;

- The Ministry of Health and Population
- Department of Health Services
- National Emergency Operations Centre
- Nepal Army
- Nepal Police
- Armed Police Force, Nepal
- Local disaster preparedness and response experts
- Directors/coordinators of hub hospitals
- Nepal Ambulance Services
- Ambulance Dispatch Centre
- Nepal Red Cross Society

The objective of the meeting was to affirm an understanding of Nepal's disaster preparedness and response plan and collect feedback and ideas for the simulation exercise. From this consultation, a proposed plan for the simulation was developed and shared with all stakeholders (detailed report Attachment 4).

Following the preparatory mission, the core project team began building out the storyline, injects and relevant resources/content for the SimEx. Respond Global led all aspects of producing content for the simulation, which included;

- developing training for facilitators,
- facilitators guidebook,
- simulation injects and content,
- a delivery mode for the injects,
- agendas and any relevant presentations and briefing documents requested by the MoHP.

In addition, Respond Global created a shared drive for all documents, including participant's documents, the facilitator's guide, the scenarios storyboard, and injects. This shared drive was made accessible to the regional and country office colleagues (the proposed Excon Team) (link to the share drive can be found below).

Link to shared drive

The officials of HEOC, MoHP with support of WHO Nepal managed all ground work, including coordination with leadership of the MoHP and other relevant stakeholders, management of participants, facilitators, observers and actors, logistics (venue, transportation, catering etc.) and administration. In addition, WHO SEARO provided strategic and technical guidance in all aspects of preparedness. The project team met weekly to work through the project plan and complete preparatory elements.

Enabling a local response through capacity-building is at the heart of the World Health Organisation's approach and is the defining element of Respond Global's purpose and vision. Therefore, a secondary goal was to support the Ministry in running future simulation exercises by training and mentoring local facilitators so they could develop and run future drills at a subnational level.



To ensure facilitators were familiar with the construct of a SimEx and the objectives of the Nepal event, Respond Global developed an online training course, providing this a week before the SimEx.

The pre-learning objective was to support facilitators in developing expert knowledge on how to design simulations, exercise core components and the specific tools required to build functional exercises. The course had an excellent engagement.

Twenty-five facilitators completed the training, with all participants agreeing their knowledge of how to run a simulation had increased and that 96% of course participants were satisfied that the course was a good introduction to the basics of exercise design.

Following the online training, facilitators attended a briefing on 19th September. The session aimed to; provide an overview of the SimEx, brief them on their roles and responsibilities as team facilitators and go through the facilitator's guidebook (Attachment 2 Agenda for the Facilitators Briefing).

On 20th September, Facilitators and Excon completed a rehearsal of the simulation intending to test inject delivery and receipt via the operational platforms, the audio for the video injects and transitions between the exercise time jumps. In addition, the facilitators evaluated and informed the simulation injects. While this was a necessary component of the exercise design, it added challenges to the core project team's ability to have early completion of the complete package, with adjustments required to improve realism or represent the correct process.

The simulation design supported the Excon team to mentor and guide the facilitators in the management of participants, further building their confidence in simulation management.

Attaching facilitators to participant groups provided the added benefit of sustaining participants' engagement on the second and third days when teams were dispersed across several sites. Facilitators became the 'eyes' of the Excon, providing critical direction regarding the team's engagement and active support to the teams working through the simulation challenges.

2.2 Set up and staging

Coordination team

The coordination team consisted of officials of HEOC, MoHP, members of WHO and Respond Global establishing a coordination structure to support effective communication and facilitation of the SimEx.

The composition of the coordination team included the following.

- Exercise controller
- Lead Facilitator
- Exercise control Lead
- Exercise control team
- Lead facilitators for each of the participation groups
- Observers for each of the participation groups
- Actors

Due to the simulation's complex nature and size, the control team consisted of 10 members with an overall control room lead. Details of the roles and responsibilities are included in (Attachment 5).



In addition, local expert facilitators were allocated to each team, along with an observer from the WHO Nepal country office, reporting back to the control room. An Excon team member maintained constant communication with both observers and facilitators providing additional guidance and awareness of taskings to each participating team.





The Facilitators received a detailed guide to direct them during the simulation ((Attachment 5) – Facilitators Guide). In addition, observers received a checklist to use, guiding them through the simulation stages (Attachment 6).

Scenario and inject development and delivery

The Scenario

Nepal is the 11th most risk-prone country in the world for earthquakes. The country is located on an active seismic belt, and it has three active fault lines. Therefore, an Earthquake was chosen as the most helpful scenario to test the objectives and impact on the health system.

The design included a 7.8 magnitude earthquake with an epicentre in Barabishe, Sindulpalchok district, Bagmati, and four-time jumps to support the different disaster response requirements over time. The overlay to the scenario included the ongoing COVID-19 and Dengue outbreaks. In addition, trauma and other disease outbreaks, such as acute watery diarrhoea, were presented at the appropriate time.

- Day 1 of the exercise addressed the first 12 hours of response to the earthquake,
- Day 2 of the exercise commenced participants to the 3rd day from the earthquake with a second-time jump at midday, propelling the participants forward to the 7th day of operations.
- Day 3 of the exercise began on day 17 from impact.

Scenario and inject resources

Introductory information about Nepal was accessed online and from officials of MoHP, NEOC, HEOC and WHO WCO Excon members. These included;

- Background information about the participating groups (e.g., current capacities of the Hub Hospitals),
- Key policies, plans and operational documents,
- Current public health issues,
- Maps, photographs,
- Geographical and demographic data and
- Key contact persons.



The Excon team simulated injects based on the Gorkha Earthquake, 2015.

- Death and injury rates,
- Damage data,
- Displaced persons
- Other challenges

The members of HEOC, MoHP reviewed this information before the exercise, informing the development of credible information injects.

- Damage data was informed by the epicentre location and using examples from past earthquakes.
- The team created a repository of casualties for all the hub and satellite hospitals in the Kathmandu Valley, specifically the epicentre, Sindulpalchock.
- Past Casualty numbers from previous earthquakes informed patient numbers used in this scenario
- The distribution of casualties to each Hospital was calculated based on distance from the epicentre (Attachment 7 example of Casualty List).
- Patient detail included Injury type, detail of the body part affected and their demographics to support realistic simulation of mass casualty management at the hospitals.
- The team developed public health content for time jumps on days 3, 7 and 17 (see attached for examples).
- Past earthquakes data informed the modelling of disease outbreak numbers
- COVID-19 and dengue outbreaks data came from actual current data in Nepal.



Other resources created included

- NEOC SITREP
- COVID-19 SIT REP and
- Email recipients
- Social media posts
- TV broadcasts
- Photographs
- Maps

Some examples of injects can be found below:

Access to the documentation is via the preparation section of the shared drive provided.



Situation update of Dengue 2022 as of the 28th of September 2022

As of 25^{th} September 2022, a total of 24261 dengue cases have been identified, with Esgmati province reporting highest number followed by Lumbini province. As seen in the Table 1, the increment in cases align with the rainy season with cases peaking in each province, this was further exaceleared with the recent events with the earthquake. The numbers have doubled since the 12^{th} of September 2022. Given the suite of the health system during this time, this is considered an outbreak

Takk 1: Number of Deeper cases by Provinces (2022, EWARS and district for Ect)

-		Contraction of the party store of the party store									
	345	Arb	Mar	Apr	May	Jun	Arby .	Aug	Sat	Terat	
Propie	2				3	13	0	130	410	(2)	
Nativa P			3	9		5		¥	43	45	
Baprell Pro.inse	0		2			35	-42	2009	10279	10047	
Quidali Prokor	.0	9	j.	3		э	25	sic	410	507	
Lunkini Province	- 2					- 15	- 10	400	23.0	309	
France		0	- 0		2	2		13	198	100	
Sutty Faultim	6		3		- 4	1	-13	F	012	70	
1000	11	1 2	15	10	25	83	720	3705	19000	24201	

The top 10 distaints have reported the highest number of cases (19245, 54%), with sponsible cases reported from other distaints, as highlighted in Table 3. Out of the top 10 distaint reporting dengue cases, the highest numbers of cases are being reported from Laidpur (5476), Kathmandu (6472), and Dang (1755) as showin Table 3. Tail dats, the denis due to dengue are vurified. Table 2. Top 10 distain sparing degas case 3; much 2022, EFXAS and Dismit Sar Anj.

READ	INTE	RNALLY DISPLACE	D PFR	SONS CAM	IPS NEP	01									
Contractor							41	37,377	7,475						
	Bate	Section 2	muse	¥00	1.000	And and a second second	Terr of Dec	Comp Minorposit	Contrast Descent	Contract	Territoria	Tree Ba	Brabb Courses	Brabb Courses	Brillà Conin
- 1000	Collect o		10000		1015		-	antallished?	-	Then y	- 1000	A192 - 10	Respiratory a	Fans a	AVD
A STREET	aliet up this	Toking a langering	K other state	Kaland, Manapalla	41.04100	85,20068	Formal Cong.	44	Charles Makerplan		1.000	410.1			
8 x734000	40000000	Relates	K phase de				Formed Code	- 805	Ohing Mukephan		3,899	404			
2 8754006	abrive-list	St. Kenner	Editoria	- Califyred Date Multi-specify	37.67470	85.2%#i	Formal Cong-	DUDBC	Richer Ry Packet		1,100	2001			
8 8734006	101-010	Public Park	Fallenade	Tobacade Mercepellin	21,762,76	81.7648	Formed yorks	MERINE ARMITISTING	Proken Talulta		2,790				
5 8734007	101-0-12	Evenati Englisti	Fatherade	Falacad, Manapolity	21.68600	81,24648	Formel cong-	ABRING ARRANGE AND AND A	RAD DOM:		1.014				
6 873M000	1015-g-52	See Darks	Rotherson de	Rotand, Manapolity	11,192,00	80.33529	Formal code	Provided Charlows	Public No.		1.005	200,0			
7 KTM008	101-012	Newspielese	Tollarade	Tollacade Metergolity	21.7476	#5.325A.0	Formal stange	Munit Commanding Survive Date	Darts Marke		2,400	430			
8 8734040	100-002	Statiget	Fatherade	Malarghol	2170540	85.34279	Formd camp	- Shades Park Child Self	Stoday Norma		1943	- (MIR.)			
3 KTMOR	\$91-p-02	Feiderek Espis College 1	Katharade	Pathenada Materipality	21.46230	#1.52508	Formd conp	Deglesering College/Gell	Deht Sporth		504	100			
RE KTMUSE	201-002	Malakarak (MMT MIL)	Tribande				Formal Code	Annual Future Francia Gente	Budde Dage There		CODA.	245.4			
W KTM00	40/bar62	Sinceranged (Record Name Scott Control)	Fatherede				Formal Curry	AND REAL PROPERTY.	Manij Glimire		810	40.			
U STADIE	\$979e-02	Cod Adulta 1	Scheinde .	Roberth Mctopolity	27.55548	85,55059		Ameripation Paris and Kala	Street Tope			M.,			
U KTM05	201403	Next Register Burkd	Kalanada	Talasade Metapolita	2112890	10.000		Rent Pugescy Rend	Ultrah Dhamah (Ture	eks Parysonal	C 154				
14 KTMOR	20100-02	Golumo Golf Dek Sits	Kathenshi	Granulieu	40,02104	45.04634		1.04	Stat.Paper (Load)	Permanal)	439				
15 XTM07	2019-012	Buhit Mayarik	Kyllaude	Kyldond, Mctrapolity	21.75255	85.52579		5.8	Junits (Notes (KPs))		35.	- to			
R STMEN	231402	National Academy	Kathanada	Estande Meterpolite	2170830	#1.52090		124	Drullins.Mape		300				
IT KIMOO	2019/02	Election Commistee Office	Kathalada	Katlalade Merupaits	317620	81,2450			Pape Taming (OPv)		400				
10 8734520	201-0-02	Sund William Consult	Rollangede .	Tritevel Manapolity	21.0666	#1.0808		- Sector Wallian Downit	Bed which it is a set	et .	1040	388.			
IS KTMORT	101+01	344 Ground	Kalkanaki	Kalkeinde Mehrspillte	CALTRAN CO	85.54(8)		Diff and Louis the	TuBalakeKC		417				
an extract	2010/02	Subspiret Talence	Burger	Kenige	atenae	85.40730	Formal Cump.	- 64	GROADS Proj Decome		42	- A -			
27 B45992	201-0-02	Bhittige Deber St(Direc Patho High St	Shiftiger .	Shitting of Managements	DIAMPRO -	10.43540	Formal Comp	100	Auton Galacia		1,251	201-14			
au defroio	1816-023	Kanad Binards (Tarrent Bagluh Dokon)	Shiftige	Shalinger Meddyally	3747968	85.43670	Formel Cody	- 54	Report Dags.		LNE				
23 Ex7004	36/5-p-02	Advers Arad Higher Duranders Dahold	Buirge .	Bhainga Mailigalis	10.001	85.43290		Munimut	NA .	NA.	906				
DA BATTONS	28/2-0/22	Bestdeet	Shinge	Andress	2187945	EL42950					54				
21 847105	161-002	Shahiger Dalamatic Congest	Shiftige .	Bhittige Mettigelty	2151000	81.4259					80	24			
26. BK7007	340.000	Phane	Buirge	Bhairige Maidpalty	27.86800	85,43490		Longenberger	Non-Meland		10.	88.5			
21 8471000	24/1-0-02	Brack's Said-School	Shiftige .	Bhatropic Manipalty	27:67258	81.4850		METAL ARMY IGAN	84	194	854	41			
28 847000	1610002	Determinys	Shiftige	Shattan Mailgoity	204/358	8542030		- 24	85	195	251				
28 847048	3401-022	Whenges College	Sharry w	Andres	214/010	BLK1040		2.0	84	1944	6,830	- 194			1
be exten	2419-0-22	Khanga Exploring College	fluinger .	Shimpe Mexignity	214/1000	ELA3998		Reprisentative (Orlanged)	NA.	165.	85				
D1 847910	101-002	Restants	Shiftige	Shiftiger Meetingship	STATIAN.	85.43548		3.4	88	195	214	20.			
34 847042	3010000	Makaharat Facility Ground	Sharage .	Building to Managering	2046800	STATISTICS.		1.04	Block Charakeps		176	- 565			1
35 847994	241-0-22	Nucleares	Ehimpe	- Eksimple Massignity	21.6368	#5.42930		5.0	INA CONTRACTOR	1944	255	56.1			
34 84705	201-012	Teyneid	Shiftige	Shattiger Meetingship	2157348	85,4356			84	195	. 100.				
01 BKTON	345+028	Table	Ballye	Building the Managering	27.46790	81.42110			84	RA .	440				
36 BATTON	201-0-02	Tuesd	Ehimpe .	Bhittipe Mailpulty	214790	01.42540		- 5-8	84	164					
07 8470H	265-p02	Videortic Relation	Shiftiger .	Shittiger Managette	2141020	85A2070		184	85	194	734	54.7			
Si BATOIR	34/hapt22	Sustant Majorite	Balliger	Building or Management	1111100	BT.43680		- Ball	84	104	UNA	406			
10 KTIPALE	24/5-0-52	the grant and graphics Encodes Control	Lalipa	- Colpater Mutorpolities	2148290	49.12200	Formal Comp.	- ENDEL	Bachill Distance		006	60.1			
	100 to 100	Inputted Forded Grand	Later	Latin Dat Managed	104440	#1 34700	Formed Comp	EMAC.	Diput Develop		3,800	100.4		*	
41 (79-903	34/1-0/02	Report Caritie 1	Later	Labor Munipulma C	artambe	1121462	Parend Cong	160	84	NA.	MC	36			



From:	Excon Play «Nepalexchange	() res	ondolobal.o	(m)				
Sent:	Wednesday, 21 September 2022 5:39 PM							
To:	Civil Hospital							
1 Excon Control								
Subject: 012 Casualty Numbers at ED as of now.								
******SIMULATION ONLY***	***SIMULATION ONLY***							
Dear Sir,								
Please see below ED casualty n	sumbers as of 1pm today.							
Kind regards								
Emergency Department.								
	10 million - 10 mi		Males			Females		
Civil Hospital	UNDER 15		15-25	25-44	64+	UNDER 15	15-25	
	15%		20%	50%	15%	15%	20%	
Skull fracture		0	0	1	0	0		
Head Injury / contusion		0	0	1	0	0		
Eye and orbit injury		0	0	1	0	0		
Spinal Column Fracture		1	2	5	1	1	- 3	
Chest Trauma		1	2	5	1	1		
Ribs fractures		0	0	1	0	0		
Petvis fracture		0	0	0	0	0		
Fractures Humerus		1	1	2	1	1		
Fractures Radius and Ulna		1	1	3	1	1		
Fractures Phalanges of hand		0	0	0	0	0		
Multiple fractures of hand bon	165	0	0	1	0	0		
Fracture of the Femur		1	2	5	1	1		
Tibla and Fibula Fracture		1	1	3	1	1		
Malleolus Fracture		0	0	1	0	0		
Fracture Metatarsal Bones		1	1	2	1	1		
Fracture Phalanges of foot		0	0	1	0	0		
General Surgery		3	4	9	3	3		
Bums and plastics injury		0	0	0	0	0		
ENT injury		0	0	0	0	0		
Dental Injury		0	0	0	0	0	- 2	
Crush lower limb	2	0	0	1	0	0		
Wounds		1	1	2	1	1		







From: Excon Play «Nepalexchange@respondglobal.com» Sent on: Wednesday, September 21, 2022 8:57:47 AM To: HEOC Nepal «HEOCNepal@respondglobal.com» Subject: 022 Media Interview Request

·····sim	ULATION ONLY SIMULATION ONLY
From Journ	afist
To HEOC	
Namaste	
l am emailin	g from the Himalayan Times, We would like to ask for an interview
Kind Regard	5
Krishna Ragi	nat

Cas# 23	Gender Female- Adult	Age 23
Detail	deep laceration on left hand	
Cause	Falling Rubble	
Ambulation	Walking	
Breathing	walking and breathing	
Pulse Capillary Refill Test	Pulse Yes	
Conscious state	Obeys	1

Inject Delivery

An inject matrix was developed to support the operational running of the exercise. The matrix included the following;

- A detailed description of the information inject,
- The time frame that was allocated to the participants to work on each inject,
- The time Excon would send to participants and
- Information for the facilitators (clearly identifying when they will be stepping into the scene) was developed as the master document to guide the SimEx (Attachment 8).



The matrix guided the control room and served as a backup document if there were issues with the internet connection. During the simulation, the Excon team adapted the matrix to changes on the day, such as time delays and participants' ability to respond and accommodate the injects. The Excon team sent information via electronic platforms such as email, Viber and phone calls. Participants were provided "simulation only" addresses to avoid confusion or external disruption. Detailed instructions on how to use each technological platform were provided to all the participants, facilitators, and observers (Attachment 9). Monitoring of all emails and Viber group platforms occurred throughout the exercise.

Viber groups were used for instant messaging amongst the EXCON, facilitators, observers, participants, and actors; a total of fourteen groups were created.

- For all the facilitators
- For all observers
- For all actors
- EXCON group
- Each Functional group (HEOC, Bagmati PHEOC, EDCD, NPHL, Ambulance Dispatch, Bir Hospital, Patan Hospital, Civil Hospital, Dhulikhel Hospital and STIDH)

Outlook email was selected as the primary mode for the delivery and receipt of injects.

- Each functional group was allocated an email account with an access username and password.
- Outlook was chosen to allow the EXCON team to monitor the responses and communications that occurred amongst the participants.
- While A single reply email was allocated to the participants should they require to send a report or a query to the control room, there were several injects that required one functional group to pass on an inject to another.



The excon team had four primary email addresses;

- Exconplay. Used to send messages from various 'actors.'
- Exconexchange. Used to support the direction of emails to 'actors' that required simulating
- Excon NEOC. Used to simulate the function of the NEOC
- Excon simulation. Used for any other correspondence outside of 'play'

The EXCON had allocated persons to monitor each email to ensure necessary communication and information is being passed on.

2.3 Execution

Over the three days, The SimEx took place in various sites across Kathmandu.

Day 1: 21st September 2022

On 21 September 2022, an opening ceremony of the simulation exercise was held in presence of Honorable Mr. Bhawani Psd. Khapung, Minister, MoHP, Ms. Dev Kumari Guragain, Secretary, Dr. Guna Raj Lohani and Dr. Sangita Mishra, additional Secretaries, MoHP and Dr. Rajesh S. Pandav, WHO representatives to Nepal along with other government officials.

Commencing at midday Nepal Local time, the SimEx began in a conference hall (Hyatt Place), which was set up to allow participants to sit in their functional groups.

The Excon team familiarised participants with the rules and objectives of the SimEx, which was officially commenced with simulated breaking news of Earthquake and pre-recorded video message from Dr. Roshan Pokhrel, Secretary, MoHP to activate ICS and proceed forward.

Facilitators were encouraged to actively engage and support participants in response to the first 12 hours of the earthquake scenario. Supervision was provided directly by Respond Global within the conference room. Observers monitored each group and reported back if issues were identified. This approach supported the participation and confidence building of both responders, facilitators and observers.

The EXCON team was allocated a separate room in the same premises however removed from the participants. This location supported the Excon team in adapting to emerging issues by increasing or decreasing the tempo of the information injected, providing a coherent realistic scenario.





Day 2: 22nd September 2022

Participants returned to their respective day-today operations rooms with their facilitators and observers.

The EXCON team remained in the control room used on day one to support consistency.

The operation room setting was chosen to add additional reality to the simulation.

"How would they respond to an emergency in their operations room?"

This setting also allowed for participation by other members of their workforce who would not usually travel to the conference venue.

Day 3: 23rd September 2022

Day 3 included a field exercise and the continuation of primary participants staged in their operational rooms across Kathmandu responding to day 17 of the simulation.

The field exercise simulation was staged at a national stadium in Kathmandu. Unfortunately, due to an aftershock, the stadium partially collapses, trapping hundreds of people and creating a mass casualty incident.





- The Nepal Army provided 150 'actors', each allocated a casualty card with an injury image.
- They were classified by the START triage system, used in Nepal as either red, yellow, green or black.
- Thirty red casualties were moulaged to simulate a realistic scenario for the first responders.
- Nepal Police controlled entry and exit to the stadium.
- The Excon team remained mobile to support and witness the drill and continue other information injects to participants.
- Armed Police Force, Nepal supported with technical assistance for Collapsed Structure, Search and Rescue (CSSR) and Men First Responders (MFR).

Due to the complex nature of the field exercise, MoHP with support of WHO arranged for all participants to wear coloured T-shirts with large prints identifying Actors, Organisers and Facilitators. The T-shirts also decreased confusion at hospitals when first responders transported the casualties.





2.4 Debrief

At the end of each day, the Excon team conducted a hot debrief with the participants. This provided a quick reflection on the exercise and briefing them on what they needed to prepare for the next day. A similar debrief but conducted separately, occurred with the facilitators, aimed at identifying necessary improvements for the next day.

Respond Global conducted a comprehensive detailed debrief for all the participants, facilitators, and observers at the end of the third day. All were given a specific debrief question to discuss and then asked to present to their table group.

The broader discussion that followed included a presentation from each table to everyone on what went well, what did not go well and what to improve for the future; this was a combination of both the SimEx process, implementation, emergency preparedness systems and procedures.



2.5 Evaluation

Respond Global created two online forms provided on the second day of the SimEx to gather feedback from the participants, facilitators, and observers on the outcomes of the simulation.

One form was created specifically for the participants, evaluating the relevance of the SimEx and if learning objectives have been achieved.

The facilitators addressed questions on the SimEx process, how the participants engaged with the injects, and the training objectives and outputs.



3. Feedback and Recommendations

3.1 Observations from the simulation

This section will detail observations and feedback from the facilitators, observers and participants. First, it will go through the facilitator's and observers' opinions and then the analysis of the outputs of the simulation (email/Viber).

Observer feedback summary

Excon provided Observers and Facilitators with a manual form to complete, with some respondents completing them in writing and some completing word documents (that omitted the quantitative scoring). A compendium of survey results can be found in Attachment 10.

Area	Observer Feedback
Infrastructure, systems, and roles and responsibilities	Overall, Observers and Facilitators reported that the infrastructure and systems were effective for this exercise. However, roles and responsibilities in a few locations, including the HEOC, were observed to improve over time, with Day 1 sometimes producing duplication from multiple personnel engaging in the problem. In addition, actions tended to be reactive rather than proactive (following plans).
Plans and Procedures	Some facilities/players did not have written procedures to follow that indicated they might need updating or revising. For example, in the HEOC, the initial absence of the regular incident commander resulted in some confusion, which the HEOC resolved as the SimEx progressed.
Coordination and communication	Communication and coordination were observed to have been well done, particularly between those with pre-existing working relationships. However, some teams reported that communication was not as strong between regular work units and external actors or between different departments, e.g. medical and admin teams, government and Nepal Red Cross Society. In addition, meetings could have been more efficient and productive with more explicit agendas and directive facilitation with limited timing.
Outcomes	The observers that actual outcomes did meet the expected results, with many reporting excellent participation by participants. Identified areas for improvement between the Hospitals, HEOCs and PHEOCs, including using defined templates when seeking reporting information and improving the information pathways, as often the HEOC and the PHEOC requests/communication to the hospitals duplicated.
Health Emergency Operations Centres (HEOCs) at the central and provincial level	There was good coordination within the health sector via the HEOC. The HEOC, at the commencement of the SimEx, managed the information flow via the central email. The HEOC quickly identified that this was insufficient to meet the incoming tsunami of information. The HEOC quickly established additional role-based emails, e.g. HEOC Logistics, to alleviate the bottleneck, transitioning to a more functional role-based response.
Coordination beyond the health sector	This was observed to be well done but not as strong as the coordination within the health sector. However, it also was observed to improve over time.
Hospital and Satellite Network	Observers noted that bed availability and data relating to casualties were well coordinated, but during the field exercise, there was some confusion related to the transfer of patients. In addition, some areas of information flow between the hub and satellite network could be improved with more frequent meetings, email templates, and agreed reporting times.

Emergency Medical Deployment Teams (EMDT)	Observers noted that EMDT were deployed somewhat effectively, but there were issues with the communication back to some of the hub hospitals. In addition, some EMDTs did not use the triage system, and the triaging of survivors in the initial phase of the Mass Casualty Incident was absent, creating confusion and not supporting the planning of patient distribution.
Rapid Response Teams	Rapid Response Teams were well used by those connected to public health entities, and more could be done to utilise this asset regarding their role with the rest of the health system. Some hospitals identified a weakness in infectious disease management and low utilisation of RRTs.
Ambulance Dispatch	Despite referral mechanisms reported to be well functioning, the Ambulance Dispatch stated dispatch delays during the field exercise. It was observed that hospitals did not coordinate well with the dispatch service, and elements of duplication of resources and separate coordination created additional confusion. Observers reported that there were information gaps in the communication between the ambulance service and the HEOC.

Analysis of email traffic

What went well

- ✓ Most emails and requests were responded to promptly
- ✓ EDCD very professionally managed the Offers of Assistance, and generally, EDCD and the HEOC used tools and templates to help systematically gather information.
- ✓ By 1010 the morning of the stadium collapse, the HEOC had sent a shared document to collate the information on casualties.

Areas for improvement

- Responses to emails had varying levels of detail and formality, with inconsistent formats used despite the need for central collation and analysis. While email was an inclusion in the SimEx, and it's understood that phone and Viber are more preferred communication methods, it's vital that accurate records of decisions are maintained throughout a disaster. Record keeping can be in the form of a log book, administrative scribe, or minutes from meetings, conversations and taskings, considering the best methods during future planning and staff trained in record keeping during disaster periods.
- ✓ Media inquiries were managed in an ad hoc and reactive manner. For example, media management could include a joint strategy with the NEOC and a regular timed press conference or media release that coincides with situation reporting. Ensuring the language is not technical and consideration is given to the actions the HEOC requires from the public.
- ✓ When receiving emails/contact from the public, a clear plan of which agency will manage these enquiries/concerns and how to manage visibility that a response has been actioned when the matter is critical.

On occasion, the PHEOC managed offers of assistance, such as equipment or supplies. Coordinating these offers is critical to avoiding duplication and ensuring high-priority areas receive goods first. In addition, clarifying who is responsible for accepting, monitoring needs and distributing may decrease confusion and duplication.

3.2 Observations on Simulation Process/Facilitation

This section will detail observations and feedback from the facilitators, observers, actors, and participants. First, it will go through the facilitators/observers and actors' observations and then the participants.

What went well

- Participants participated actively and managed well despite a highly complex scenario. Great collaboration was observed between clinical and public health/laboratory services under the coordination of the HEOC.
- Participants also took time to look after each other and arranged breaks, despite the pressure rising. There was excellent participation, with some observers noting that the involvement of health secretaries and other health officials helped all participants take the simulation seriously.
- ✓ After the years of COVID-19, it was noted that this exercise helped refresh skills in coordination and revised the critical contact points as they were responding, and responders and facilitators were engaged.
- Using emails and having the functional elements of the exercise was cited as useful
 to keep records of the simulation communication and to practice the management of large amounts of information and correspondence. This was a new element not used in previous simulations.

'For the first time (our hospital) tested the coordination with Nepal Army, Armed Police, Police, DHO, Satellite hospitals, CDO and municipality. It was great to see that within an hour our whole district was in alert and helping hands from army, police and members from municipality and DHO arrived to hospital premises.' - Hospital-based Facilitator

Areas for improvement

- ✓ Sound system for field site.
- One observer reported that the hub and satellite network didn't believe the scenario set up for the simulation, and there was some confusion relating to the communication of the stadium scenario.
- Excon could further reinforce 'Rules of Play" as some players sought to verify simulated incidents.

4. Recommendations

SimEX Process

Facilitators trained prior and who supported the SimEx as mentors completed an evaluation form.

They described much appreciation for the functional simulation style, templates of injects and materials to be retained by MoHP for future use.

Feedback from facilitators included that they would like to ensure exercises like this become regular.

The feedback further endorsed the functional style of the simulation for its ability to test the incident management systems and EOC setup within facilities and improve and test communication pathways.

'This time (our Hospital) wanted to test coordination among organizations outside the hospital, it was successful. It was very nice to up-to-date communication with HEOC. Communication of HEOC was very poor in actual disasters. But this simulation taught how to establish good communication with HEOC and other government bodies.' - Hospital-based Facilitator

'It was a very nice opportunity for me personally and for the institution to upgrade the knowledge of

(Mass Casualty Incident) management. This type of simulation should be organised in local level to enhance the coordination between hub and satellite hospitals. Such drills should not be focused for

Kathmandu only. Every province should organise such simulation in regular basis. Central government and donor organisation should provide budget and expertise to provincial government

to conduct such drills.' - Hospital-based Facilitator

Recommendations for Health Emergency Preparedness in Nepal

Training

Mass Casualty Management training would be particularly beneficial to build on the learnings from the field exercise. Ensuring EMDTs are trained in the triage system the same as the ambulance and other first responders and one method of triage is used across the country will save many lives in the response phase of an emergency. In addition, this would encourage using casualty clearing stations to ensure consistent triage approaches between first responders from different areas, particularly between ambulances and EMDTs.

The cross-training of personnel allows for **cross-over roles** depending on the crisis. E.g. Consider where EMDT personnel could be used to bolster RRT capacity. In addition, consider a broader health familiarisation on the part of RRTs and how they coordinate within the greater health system. This could also include training for non-clinical staff to assist incident commanders with communication and reporting during mass casualty incidents.

Follow-up simulations and debriefs should be conducted by newly trained facilitators, including at the facility level, to test Hospital Disaster Preparedness Plans and respond to early warnings or crises when necessary.

Information management

A suite of structured forms for situation collection and agreed channels could help with information collection and collation. This could include creating impact assessment forms and situation reports. These forms could also be used to gather information on beds, occupancy, presentations, damage and logistics issues, including requests for assistance. To save time and manage multiple data sources, forms could also be made electronic, allowing for information collation and more accurate communication of the situation.

Expanded virtual EOC capacity included trained cadre to monitor central inbox simultaneously (e.g. heocnepal@) and refer to relevant incident management unit or incident commander when necessary. This will build the capacity to process large amounts of information, strengthen the central log/data repository and free key decision-makers for strategic oversight. Within this vein, **consider a shared central point of truth (battle boards/tables)** to keep track of critical information (clinical, logistics, public health, ambulance, lab etc.) to aid decision making.

Plans, policies and systems

Standard Operating Procedures (SOPs) for key processes during first 24 hours, 48hours -2 weeks. SOPs should be connected to the structured forms sent out for completion. In addition, some emails can be pre-drafted and even automated, depending on the system. During the SOP development, it will be essential to clarify coordination, particularly concerning the Hospital network and the PHEOC and HEOC.

Consider adding additional cells/functions within the HEOC. One possible functional area could be related to the coordination of EMDT and RRT deployments. Another potential area could be a dedicated liaison function between NEOC and HEOC, or routing whole of government issues like Ministry of Foreign Affairs (MOFA) communications at least.

Consider **confirming a consistent information pathway** that allows for a seamless transition between trauma to public health phases which require similar approaches to data sharing and maintaining situation awareness.

Revision of **Mass Casualty Planning.** One outcome of revising plans/SOPs around MCIs, in addition to consistent triage systems, will be improved communication to HEOC (and hospitals) via coordination between ambulance, MFR and EMDT by assigning onsite commander(s) and sharing real-time information to HEOC as well as NEOC.

5. Conclusions and Next Steps

This SimEx was one of the most complex simulations MoHP Nepal has been involved in. Participants appreciated the opportunity to partake and demonstrated the strong capacities gained since the 2015 earthquake response and the COVID-19 outbreak but also informed important and specific recommendations to strengthen health emergency systems further.

The SimEx had the added benefit of developing a new cadre of simulation facilitators attached to many different areas of the Ministry. The lessons learnt during this exercise can be used to improve the SimEx package and rolled out in other countries. This package can also be adapted to suit either onsite SimEx or a virtual SimEx.

Likewise, the practical recommendations identified by countries can be used to inform WHO of its planning to support Nepal and to inform similar simulations in other countries.



6. Photo Gallery

Preparatory Meeting 4th August 2022





WHO Nepal/ Subash Neupane

WHO Nepal/Subash Neupane

Preparatory meeting of Exercise Control Team (EXCON) 19th September 2022



WHO Nepal/ Bibek Maharjan



WHO Nepal/ Bibek Maharjan



WHO Nepal/ Bibek Maharjan



WHO Nepal/Bibek Maharjan



WHO Nepal/ Bibek Maharjan



WHO Nepal/ Bibek Maharjan



WHO Nepal/ Bibek Maharjan



WHO Nepal/ Bibek Maharjan



WHO Nepal/ Bibek Maharjan



WHO Nepal/ Bibek Maharjan



WHO Nepal/ Bibek Maharjan

Facilitator Dry Run 20th September 2022



WHO Nepal/ Bibek Maharjan



WHO Nepal/ Bibek Maharjan



WHO Nepal/ Bibek Maharjan



WHO Nepal/ Bibek Maharjan

Opening Ceremony - 21st September 2022



WHO Nepal/ Bibek Maharjan



WHO Nepal/ Bibek Maharjan



WHO Nepal/ Bibek Maharjan



WHO Nepal/ Bibek Maharjan



WHO Nepal/ Bibek Maharjan



WHO Nepal/ Bibek Maharjan



WHO Nepal/ Bibek Maharjan



WHO Nepal/Bibek Maharjan

NEPAL HEALTH SECTOR SIMULATION EXERCISE

First Day of Simulation at Hyatt 21st September 2022



WHO Nepal/ Bishal Sigel



WHO Nepal/ Bishal Sigel



WHO Nepal/Bishal Sigel



WHO Nepal/ Bishal Sigel



WHO Nepal/ Bishal Sigel



WHO Nepal/ Bishal Sigel

Second day of Simulation at normal response locations 22nd September 2022



WHO Nepal/Yagya Raj Gyawali



WHO Nepal/ Bibek Maharjan



WHO Nepal/ Bibek Maharjan



WHO Nepal/ Bibek Maharjan



WHO Nepal/ Bishal Sigdel



WHO Nepal/ Bishal Sigdel



WHO Nepal/ Bishal Sigdel



WHO Nepal/ Bishal Sigdel



WHO Nepal/ Bishal Sigdel

Field Exercise at Dasharath Stadium, HEOC and Hospitals 23rd September 2022



WHO Nepal/ Bibek Maharjan



WHO Nepal/ Bibek Maharjan



WHO Nepal/ Bibek Maharjan



WHO Nepal/Yagya Raj Gyawali



WHO Nepal/Yagya Raj Gyawali



WHO Nepal/ Bibek Maharjan



WHO Nepal/Yagya Raj Gyawali



WHO Nepal/Yagya Raj Gyawali



WHO Nepal/Yagya Raj Gyawali



WHO Nepal/Yagya Raj Gyawali



WHO Nepal/Yagya Raj Gyawali



WHO Nepal/ Bishal Sigdel



WHO Nepal/ Bishal Sigdel



WHO Nepal/ Bishal Sigdel



WHO Nepal/ Bibek Maharjan



WHO Nepal/ Bishal Sigdel



WHO Nepal/ Bishal Sigdel

Debrief and Closing Ceremony Everest Hotel 23rd September 2022



WHO Nepal/Yagya Raj Gyawali



WHO Nepal/Yagya Raj Gyawali



WHO Nepal/ Bishal Sigdel



WHO Nepal/Bishal Sigdel



WHO Nepal/Yagya Raj Gyawali



SUPPORTED BY





Nepal

NEPAL HEALTH SECTOR SIMULATION EXERCISE